IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00077

WALTER F. GANDY and CHARLES H. GANDY

APPELLANTS

VERSUS

GEORGE E. FORD, DAVID EISWORTH, CHRIS HITT and FIRST FEDERAL BANK FOR SAVINGS, SOUTH PARK

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT MARION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

FRANK P. WITTMANN, III WITTMANN & WITTMANN Post Office Box 1648 1820 22nd Avenue Gulfport, MS 39502 Tel. 228- 864-1600 Fax 228- 868-1194 MS Bar WILLIAM W. DREHER, JR. DREHER LAW FIRM Post Office Box 968 2224-24th Avenue Gulfport, Mississippi 39502 Tel. 228-822-2222 Fax 228-822-2626 MSB#

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SETTING ASIDE A BILL OF SALE THAT IS CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Walter Gandy and George Ford¹ were related by marriage. Walt's wife was George's first cousin. George, being a bit eccentric, needed help throughout his life that Walt provided. Walt allowed him to stay in his hunting cabin when he had no place to go. Walt and Charlie Gandy built a house for him when he again needed a place to live. When George became paralyzed, Walt and Charlie repaired his porch and built him a wheelchair ramp.

In 1992, George sold his land and personal property to Walt and retained a life estate on both. Included in the personal property was a certain tractor, which is referred hereafter as the "old tractor." In 1993, George wanted to buy a "new tractor" using the "old tractor" as a trade-in. Walt agreed. Instead of trading in the "old tractor", Walt gave George the trade-in value of the "old tractor" to use as the down payment on the "new tractor". The parties agreed that George would retain a life estate in the "new tractor" with Walt having the remainder interest. Walt kept the "old tractor".

In August 2000, George sold the "new tractor" to Chris Hitt. When Walt noticed the tractor was missing from George's home, Walt investigated and learned what George had done. Walt and Charlie then filed a complaint for Equitable Lien and Waste against George Ford, David Eisworth, Chris Hitt and First Federal Bank for Savings South Park.

After a hearing on the merits, the Chancellor enter a judgment declaring the land transaction to be valid, but setting aside the bill of sale for the "new tractor". Feeling aggrieved

¹George Ford passed away after this case was heard.

at the court's decision setting aside the bill of sale and feeling that the court had exceeded its authority, Walt and Charlie filed this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This dispute revolves around a family, the Fords, who live in and around the City of Columbia in Marion County, Mississippi. Walter Gandy (Walt) and his son, Charles H. Gandy (Charlie) are residents of Pearl River County, Mississippi. (Tr. 3) Walt is related to the Defendant, George Ford (George) by marriage. (Tr. 3) George is Walt's wife's first cousin. George and the Gandy's had a long and friendly relationship being approximately 40 years. (Tr. 3) George Ford was not married and lived on Ford Family property in Columbia for most of his life. (Tr. 3) George is also a bit eccentric. For example, he refused to have a bathroom in the house. (Tr. 17)

In the early 1972, Walt allowed George to live in his hunting and fishing cabin for about a year when George had no place to live. (Tr. 4-5) In 1987 or 1988, Walt built a small house for George on 26 acres of property George inherited from his father. (Tr. 5-6) In 1992, George sold Walt and Charlie the aforesaid 26 acres for the sum of \$14,000. (Ex. 2) George retained a life estate to the property. (Tr. 7-11; Ex. 2) At the same time, George sold Walt numerous personal items listed on a Bill of Sale and retained a life estate and maintained possession of all items. (Tr. 7-1; Ex. 3) Ford also included on the bill of sale for the personal items was a tractor which he owned at the time. (Tr. 7-11; Ex. 3) The deed and bill of sale were prepared by Walt's attorney. (Tr. 31) However, both deed and bill of sale were notarized by the Hon. Garland Upton. (Tr. 31 & 40-44) Mr. Upton ensured that George understood that he was signing a deed, retaining a life estate and deeding all his personal property. (Tr. 43)

In 1993, George wanted to purchase a new tractor. (Tr. 12) Walt agreed to give George the trade-in value for the "old tractor". (Tr. 12-13) This "old tractor", as we will call it, is the same tractor that Walt already owned at George's death. (Tr. 12-13) George then took the money that Walt gave him and purchased the "new tractor". (Tr. 13) George and Walt agreed that George would transfer the "new tractor" to Walt with George maintaining a life estate in the "new tractor". (Tr. 13; Ex 4)

In 2000, George suffered an illness that left him paralyzed. (Tr. 14) Walt and Charlie replaced his front porch and built him a wheelchair ramp. (Tr. 14) A few months later, Walt noticed that the "new tractor" was missing from George's home where it was normally kept. (Tr. 14) Walt learned that another cousin, David Eisworth, removed the tractor from George's house. (Tr. 16) The tractor had been purchased by another cousin, Chris Hitt, (Tr. 136; Ex. 8)

Walt and Charlie then filed a complaint for Equitable Lien and Waste against George Ford, David Eisworth, Chris Hitt and First Federal Bank for Savings South Park. (R.E. 3)

Defendants claimed, throughout the trial, that George Ford was an 80 year old who was mentally impaired. Defendants promised to put on proof of a doctor's testimony of his impairment. However, after being granted 15 days to produce the doctor, no proof was forthcoming. (Tr. 186) The only proof of any impairment by George was his testimony at trial, which at best showed a man in his 80's who was confused as to the questions which were asked him by the court and both parties. (Tr. 91-105)

At trial, George testified that he did not intend to sell the tractor. (Tr. 91-105) When questioned, George rambled and was non-responsive on several occasions. (Tr. 91-105)

The Chancellor questioned George to determine his mental capacity. (Tr. 103-105) George was non-responsive, and the Chancellor had to ask George the same questions several times before he responded. (Tr. 103-105) There was no proof presented of any mental incapacity on George's part in 1993 when the deal was struck.

On December 4, 2007, the Chancellor entered his decision and set aside the bill of sale for the "new tractor" stating that it was not George's intent nor did the bill of sale have adequate consideration for the "new tractor".

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On December 4, 2007, the Chancery Court of Marion County entered a judgment setting aside the bill of sale, Exhibit 4, for the "new tractor" and cancelled the agreement in part between George Ford and Walter and Charles Gandy.

It is respectfully submitted that the learned chancellor committed manifest and reversible error in setting aside the aforesaid bill of sale and canceling the agreement between George Ford and Walter Gandy. Walter Gandy and Charles Gandy respectfully submit that setting aside the bill of sale and canceling the agreement between the parties is contradictory to the overwhelming weight of the evidence and the case law of the State of Mississippi. Walter Gandy and Charles Gandy respectfully submit that the Chancellor does not have the authority to modify or to cancel a binding contract between two consenting parties.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE COURT COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN SETTING ASIDE A BILL OF SALE THAT IS CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS.

Walter and Charles Gandy, as Appellants in this case, accept the well-established law concerning this court's role in reviewing a decision of a Chancellor. In cases involving alimony, the court will afford the chancellor considerable discretion. "The chancellor's findings will not be reversed unless manifestly in error or an abuse of discretion." *Tanner v. Roland*, 598 So.2d 783, 786 (Miss. 1992). "Our familiar rule of deference prohibits us from disturbing the factual finding of a chancellor unless it is manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous." *Bowers Window & Door Co. v. Dearman*, 549 So.2d 1309, 1313 (Miss. 1989). "For questions of law, our standard of review is de novo." *Harrison County v. City of Gulfport*, 557 So.2d 780, 784 (Miss. 1990).

Walter and Charles Gandy respectfully submit that the Honorable Chancellor was manifestly incorrect in setting aside the agreement between Walter Gandy and George Ford. In *Union Planter Nat'l Bank*, *N.A. v. Jetton*, the Court stated the authority that a court has relating to a contract when it stated:

Under Mississippi law, where the contract is not ambiguous, the intention of the contracting parties should be gleaned solely from the wording of the contract. Heritage Cablevision v. New Albany Elec. Power Sys., 646 So.2d 1305, 1312 (Miss. 1994). Parol evidence will not be received to vary or alter the terms of a written agreement that is intended to express the entire agreement of the parties on the subject matter at hand. Turner v. Terry, 799 So.2d 25, 32 (P 16) (Miss. 2001); Grenada Auto Co. v. Waldrop, 188 Miss. 468, 195 So. 491, 492 (1940). A "court is obligated to enforce a contract executed by legally competent parties where the terms of the contract are clear and unambiguous." Merchants & Farmers Bank v. State ex rel. Moore, 651 So.2d 1060, 1061

(Miss. 1995). As stated in *Delta Pride Catfish, Inc. v. Home Ins. Co.*, 697 So.2d 400, 404 (Miss. 1997), the parties are bound by the language of the contract where a contract is unambiguous. We are "concerned with what the contracting parties have said to each other, not some secret thought of one [that was] not communicated to the other." *Mississippi State Highway Com'n v. Patterson Enterprises Ltd.*, 627 So.2d 261, 263 (Miss. 1993). "While a valid contract may be reformed where a mistake has been made, the general rule is that reformation is justified only if the mistake is a mutual one, or where one party made a mistake and the other party committed fraud or inequitable conduct." *Palmere v. Curtis*, 789 So.2d 126, 131 (P12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (*citing Ivison v. Ivison*, 762 So.2d 329, 335-36 (P21) (Miss. 2000)). However, "the mistake that will justify a reformation must be in the drafting of the instrument, not in the making of the contract." *Id.* (*quoting Johnson v. Consolidated Am. Life Ins. Co.*, 244 So.2d 400, 402 (Miss. 1971)).

Union Planter Nat'l Bank, N.A. v. Jetton, 856 So.2d 674 (Miss. App. 2003).

When a contract is clear and unambiguous, this Court "is not concerned with what the parties may have meant or intended but rather what they said, for the language employed in a contract is the surest guide to what was intended." *Palmere v. Curtis*, 789 So.2d 126, 131 (*quoting Shaw v. Burchfield*, 481 So. 2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985)). When this Court interprets a contract, we "look to the contract for its meaning, not what a party thereto may have thought it meant. The standard is objective, measured by the language of the contract, not by the subjective intent or belief of a party which conflicts with meaning ascertained by the objective standard." *Id.* (*quoting Landry v. Moody Grishman Agency, Inc.*, 254 Miss. 363, 375, 181 So. 2d 134, 139 (1965)). We are "concerned with what the contracting parties have said to each other, not some secret thought of one [that was] not communicated to the other." *Id.* (*quoting Mississippi State Highway Com'n v. Patterson Enterprises Ltd.*, 627 So. 2d 261, 263 (Miss. 1993).

In this case, the bills of sale are clear and unambiguous. No one has raised the issue of vagueness or ambiguity. Both documents were notarized by an independent party. Thus, the court is obligated to enforce such a contract. See Merchants & Farmers Bank v. State ex rel. Moore, supra. The chancellor based his decision on what he perceived to be the intent of George Ford. However, the intent of the parties or what they meant has not been of concern to this court, but what they said in their contract. See Shaw, at 481 So. 2d 252. The best indication of the intention of the parties has been the language of the contract. Id. The language in the agreement between Walt and George is clear. George intended to sell his tractor to Walt and retain the tractor until the day he died at which time the tractor would belong to Walt. George dictated the terms and the price. He is estopped from asking the court to set aside the agreement.

As to the issue of lack of *adequate* consideration, that term is most often used with a constitutional attach on a lease, most often a lease of sixteenth section property, or a fraudulent transfer. This case does not address either. In *Daniel v. The Snowdoun Association*, this court addressed the issue of lack of consideration when it stated:

"Lack of consideration is an affirmative defense. The party advancing it must plead it in his answer, as Daniel did here. Where the instrument in controversy contains a statement or recital of consideration, it creates a rebuttable presumption that consideration actually existed. 17 C.J.S. Contracts § 73. See also, Dabbs v. International Minerals and Chemical Corp., 339 F. Supp. 654, 664 (N. D. Miss. 1972). The general rule is that this presumption is established even by such expressions as "for value", "for good and sufficient consideration", "for value received" or, as in the present case, "for valuable consideration." Frank v. Irgens, 27 Minn. 43, 6 N. W. 380, 380 (1880); Estate of Weinsaft, 647 S. W. 2d 179, 183 (Mo. App. 1983); Gover v. Empire Bank, 574 S. W. 2d 464, 468-64 (Mo. App. 1978). This presumption, however, does not disable the defendant from putting on proof designed to show that the consideration was

not actually paid or bargained for. Restatement 2d of Contracts § 71, Comment (b) (1979). See also, e.g., Upper Avenue National Bank of Chicago v. First Arlington National Bank of Arlington Heights, 81 III. App. 3rd 208, 400 N. E. 2d 1105, 1107, 36 III. Dec. 525 (1980); Presbyterian Church of Albany v. Cooper, 112 N.Y. 517, 20 N. E. 352, 353 (1889). The rebuttal must be made by a clear preponderance of the evidence. Gershon v. Ashkanazie, 239 Mo. App. 1012, 199 S. W. 2d 38, 40 (1947). The resolution of any conflict in the testimony is for the trier of fact."

Thompson G. Daniel v. The Snowdoun Association, 513 So.2d 946 (Miss. 1987).

The bills of sale clearly show that consideration was given. Therefore, a rebuttal presumption is created that can only be overcome by clear and convincing evidence. See Id. The Chancellor's decision was based upon the preponderance of the evidence standard.

Again, George set the terms and the price. He cannot raise the issue of lack of consideration or lack of adequate consideration. The Chancellor's decision in essence puts a burden on the purchaser to object to the price if he believes it to be too low. That is just not real life.

When George sold his personal property and retained a life estate, he split the ownership of that property into a present interest and a future interest. In 1992, Walt paid for the future interest in the "old tractor". Later when George wanted to buy another tractor, Walt paid George for the present interest in the "old tractor". George and Walt transferred ownership of the future interest in the "old tractor" to the "new tractor".

There has been no evidence as to the value of the future interest of either tractor at the time of George's death. How could anyone estimate the value of the future interest in either tractor in 1992 or 1993? Walt took a gamble that the tractor would have some value at the

tł re time of George's death. In 1992, no one could tell when George would die. He could have outlived Walt for that matter. In 1992 Walt paid George for a future interest in a tractor that he had to wait over twelve years before his future interest matured. If George were alive today, Walt would still be waiting for that future interest to mature.

No one could predict George's death nor could they predict the condition of the tractor at the time of George's death. The tractor could have been worn out or in pristine shape. In 1992 and 1993, no one could foretell the condition of the tractors and certainly could not foresee this lawsuit. Once George passed away, he had no use for either tractor and could not really care what happened to them. Therefore, the only thing that we know for sure is that the future interest to the tractor is worth noting to George at his death. What is adequate consideration to George for ownership of a tractor after his death? Walt and Charlie suggest to the court that it is very little indeed.

One must wonder, what if George sold the "old tractor" to Chris Hitt? The Chancellor only ruled that the second bill of sale for the "new tractor" was void. Therefore, without some testimony as to the value of the future interest, the Chancellor's decision that consideration was inadequate must fail.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Walt and Charlie respectfully submit that the trial court committed manifest and reversible error in finding that George did not intend to sell a future interest in the "new tractor", which directly contradicts the written agreement between the Walt and George. Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that this case be remanded to the Chancery Court of Marion County, Mississippi with instructions that bill of sale be reinstated