**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Chancellor will not be overturned unless he made a decision that was in manifest error.

This Court heard this matter, observed witnesses, and viewed exhibits. The Appellants feeling aggrieved have now appealed. The law has long been that " This Court will not disturb a chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard" See Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So. 2d 357 (Miss. 1994). See also McEwen v. McEwen, 631 So. 2d 821, 823 (Miss. 1994). The only way an appellate court can reverse a chancellor's ruling of fact is when there is not "substantial, credible evidence" to justify his findings. The Court referenced Parsons v. Parsons, 678 So. 2d 701,703 (Miss. 1996), saying the award on appeal will not be disturbed unless it is found to be against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or manifestly in error. The court in Carr v. Carr, 480 So. 2d 1120 (Miss. 1985) stated that " Findings of fact made by a chancellor may not be set aside or disturbed on appeal unless manifestly wrong; this is not whether the finding relates to evidentiary fact questions, or to ultimate fact questions" Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So. 2d 1294 (Miss. 1984). The Court went on to conclude that if there is evidence in the record that support the chancellor's finding of fact, then the finding should not be disturbed. "The Court is bound by the findings unless it can be said with a reasonable certainty that those findings were manifestly wrong and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Torrence v. Moore, 455 So. 2d 778 (Miss. 1984). "An appellate court is not at liberty to overturn decisions of the chancellor unless they are manifestly in error." Devereaux v. Devereaux, 493 So. 2d. 1310 (Miss. 1986). The Devereaux court stated again

that they would not reverse the chancellor's finding of facts on contradictory testimony unless it is manifestly wrong. The law is specifically that "[this Court will not disturb the factual findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless it can say with reasonable certainty that the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard." Morgan v. West, 812 so.2d 987, 990 (Miss. 2002); Cummings v. Benderman, 681 So.2d 97, 100 (Miss. 1996). Further, in order to disturb the findings of a chancellor this court must find that the chancellor has abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong or has made a finding which was clearly erroneous. See Bank of Miss. V. Hollingsworth, 609 So.2d 422 (Miss. 1992). The chancellor's determination regarding the weight and credibility of witnesses is given deference when there is conflicting testimony. See Scott Addison Constr., Inc. v. Lauderdale County Sch. Sys., 789 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2001); Murphy v. Murphy, 631 so.2d 812 (Miss. 1994); Culbreath v. Johnson, 427 so.2d. 705 (Miss. 1983).

The record supports this decision. Please find the following excerpts from the record:

1. The testimony revealed George did holler at times (Record, page19 Line 13-21) “

“Q. And in '92 you would admit that he would have these hollering matches?

A. Yeah.”

2. That the Appellants state that they built the home for George Ford, however the record reveals (Page 22 Line 25-27)

“Q. And did you pay for the materials?

A. Some of it. He paid for a lot of it himself.”

(Page 23 Line 9-11)

"Q. So you didn't build him the house, you just assisted him in building this house?"

A. You could say that."

3. The record on (Page 24 Line 12-19) reveals that the Appellants received

"Q. Fourteen thousand dollars for 26 acres of land and the property described on the Bill of Sale.

Let's go to Exhibit - I'm going to direct your attention to Exhibit 4 first. Exhibit 4 is the second Bill of Sale where he conveyed to you the Ford tractor bearing Serial No. CA554CBD32549; is that correct?

A. That's it. "

(Page 29 Line 3-14)

Q. There is no receipt. All right. So you got this tractor that's listed on this Bill of Sale marked in Exhibit 2.

A. Right.

Q. And you initiated this lawsuit about this other tractor, the one that's on Exhibit No.3 - -

A. That's right.

Q. - - That cost seventeen or eighteen thousand dollars, right?"

4. When questioned "Q. It doesn't sound fishy to you that an old man sells his 26 acres of land and everything he's got on that property for \$14,000 and takes that \$14,000 and goes and buys a tractor and then gives the tractor to the man who gave him the \$14,000? That doesn't sound fishy?"

A. No, it doesn't. You know, if I make a deal with you, if I want to sell you something and I say this is what I want for it, do you sit there and argue with me that your not asking enough for it? I

mean, in the business world you pay what the guy ask for it, and that's what he asked for it."

(Record Page 30, lines 18-29)

5. It was brought out that Mr. Ford did not prepare the documents and was not an educated man (Record Page 31 Line 16-23)

"Q. But you agree that Mr. Ford didn't have anything to do with the preparation of the deed to the bills of sale?

A. No, he didn't.

Q. And you would agree with me - - what is Mr. Ford's level of education?

A. I suppose he's probably maybe - - maybe he went to high school. I don't know."

6. George Ford himself testified (Record Page 105 Line 17-27) that "I sold them the land, yes. I sold them the land in good faith." When questioned if he sold the Gandys his personal property, his truck, his tools and feed spreader? He replied" "Ain't supposed to be nothing but land."

7. Chris Hitt testified (Record Page 135 Lines 3-15) that he purchased the tractor and borrowed funds to purchase the tractor. He further testified that he paid notes on the tractor. He stated " I did. I had it taken out of my checking account."

The record is complete to support the decision of the Chancellor that George Ford never intended to sell the tractor and it would be unequivocal to enforce that decision. .

II. The Court was correct in finding that there was no intention to transfer title to the tractor.

Appellant argues that this Court must look at the contract signed by the parties and enforce the same. First of all, the competency of George E. Ford is at question. Secondly, the

Contract is on its face unconscionable. The Plaintiffs chose their equitable forum. The Appellees asked for the lower court to not only set aside the tractor sale but also the sale on the real property. The record reveals that the Appellants paid Appellee \$14,000.00., for twenty-six acres and numerous listed personal property. The Appellants would also have the Court believe that it was the intent of George Ford to take the \$14,000.00., and put \$3,000.00., of his money with the same and buy a tractor and then sale the tractor to Appellants. The Court found that this was not the intent of George Ford.

This Court has upheld the application of equity to contract situations. The case of Alliance Tr. Co., Ltd. v. Armstrong, 185 Miss. 148 (1939) 186 So. 633, provides "It is plainly upon the principle that a man cannot profit by his own conscious wrong that equity will reform at the instance of one taken advantage of while in error of a material fact. Generally it may be said that equitable relief by way of rescission will be given from a unilateral mistake relating to a material feature of the contract of such grave consequence that enforcement of the contract would be unconscionable, if the party making the mistake was in the exercise of ordinary diligence, and relief can be given without serious prejudice to the other party, aside from the loss of his bargain. 9 Am. Jur., sec. 33, page 378; 59 A.L.R. 809; Hurst v. National Bond & Investment Co., 117 So. 792, 59 A.L.R. 807.

"A unilateral mistake accompanied by other facts may be sufficient, however. It is said that mistake may be a good defense where hardship amounting to injustice would be inflicted on a party by holding him to his apparent bargain and where it is unreasonable to hold him to it.

12 Am. Jur., sec. 133.

In the case at hand, George Ford did not intend to sale the tractor. He made a mistake. The lower Court recognized the mistake and reformed the Contract to reflect the same.

Clinton Service Co. v. Thornton, 233 Miss 1 (1958), quoted 5 Williston on Contracts, Section 1425, p. 3990: and stated ". . . it maybe said that wherever a contract though legally valid is grossly unfair, or its enforcement opposed to good policy for any reason, equity will refuse to enforce it, and though certain kinds of unfairness may be classified, equity declines to make an exact inventory of what amounts to such unfairness or impropriety as will preclude relief, but leaves a border land where the court can consider the particular facts of each case and deal with it on its merits. So, if the contract is unconscionable in its terms, equity will not enforce it." 2 A.L.I., Rest. Contracts, Section 367; 81 C.J.S., Specific Performance, Section 18.

In this case it is unconsciounable to allow someone to sell their land for \$14,000.00., and put \$3,000.00., of their own money with the \$14,000.00., and then sale the item bought with the \$17,000.00., for no additional consideration.

In this case there was no clear meeting of the minds. Everett v. Hubbard, 199 Miss 857 (1946) "There can be no contract without the mutual meeting of the minds of the parties thereto. 6 R.C.L. 620, Sec. 41.

The chancery courts of Mississippi decree reformation where a written instrument does not express the intention of the parties at the time the contract was made. Courts will not make a new agreement for the parties, but will reform their written instrument so it will express their true bargain. Brimm v. McGee, 119 Miss. 52, 80 So. 379; Smith et al. v. Federal Land Bank of New Orleans, 178 Miss. 600, 173 So. 673; Dead River Fishing & Hunting Club v. Stovall, supra; Merchants' and Manufacturers' Bank v. Hammer, 166 Miss. 383, 148 So. 641; McDaniel v. Inzer (Miss.), 52 So. 359; McAllister v. Richardson, 103 Miss. 418, 60 So. 570.

This Court has authority to not enforce the Bill of Sale and the Court's decision should be affirmed.

III. Chris Hitt was a bona fide purchaser for value.

Chris Hitt bought the tractor from George Ford, who had possession, and borrowed funds to buy said tractor. Chris had no idea that any one had a claim to the tractor. A conveyance, which acknowledges payment or receipt of valuable consideration is prima facie evidence that the grantee therein (Chris Hitt in the instant case) was a bona fide purchaser for a valuable consideration without notice. *Robertson v. Dombroski*, 678 So.2d 637 (Miss.1996), citing *Rollings v. Rosenbaum*, 166 Miss. 499, 148 So 384 (1933), *Burks v. Moody*, 141 Miss. 370, 107 So. 528.

In this case there is no dispute that Chris Hitt paid \$7,000.00, to George Ford for the tractor.

Lacking evidence that attacks the consideration given by Chris Hitt to George Ford, and lacking evidence showing that Chris Hitt, and/or David Eisworth, had actual knowledge of the claim of the Plaintiffs against the property, it must be concluded that Chris Hitt was a bona fide purchaser for value without notice. No such evidence exists, and Chris Hitt was a bona fide purchaser for value without notice.

A bona fide purchaser is "one who has in good faith paid a valuable consideration without notice of the adverse rights in another." *Harrell v. Lamar Co.*, WL 2277310 (Miss. App. 2005). Thus, there are three requirements/elements for a bona fide purchaser: (1) valuable consideration, (2) good faith, (3) absence of notice. *Memphis Hardwood Flooring Co. v. Daniel*, 771 So.2d 924, 933 (Miss. 2000). Valuable consideration is defined as being "paid by one who, at the

time of his purchase, advances a new consideration, surrenders some security, or does some other act which, if his purchase were set aside, would leave him in a worse position than that which he occupied before the purchase." *Buckley v. Garner*, 2004-CA-00158-COA (Miss. App. Ct. 2005).

The most important of these three appears to be notice. In *Credit Lyonnais v. Koval*, 745 So.2d 837 (Miss. 1999), the State Supreme Court held, "Our statutory and case law indicates that a purchaser is charged with actual notice of facts of which he has actual knowledge; and, where the purchaser has knowledge of facts which would cause a reasonable person to inquire, he is charged with inquiry notice of those facts which could be uncovered by diligent investigation."

Furthermore, notice can be either actual or constructive. As stated in *Sun Oil Co. v. Broadhead*, 323 So.2d 95 (Miss. 1975),

"So, it has been held that, under the particular facts and circumstances, a party is not an innocent purchaser if he had notice of a prior conveyance, or if he knew of the mistake or of the other's claim before he paid the purchase price; neither is he, if he was conscious of having the means of such knowledge and did not use them as an ordinarily prudent and diligent person would have done, or if there were circumstances sufficient to put him on inquiry. If there were circumstances which, in the exercise of common reason and prudence, ought to put him on particular inquiry, he will be presumed to have made that inquiry, and will be charged with notice of every fact which that inquiry would have given him."

Moreover, Miss. Code Ann. § 75-1-201(25), provides in pertinent part, "A person has 'notice' of a fact when:

5. He has actual knowledge of it; or
- (B) He has received a notice or notification of it; or
- (C) From all the facts and circumstances known to him at the time in question he has reason to know that it exists. A person 'knows' or has 'knowledge' of a fact when he has actual knowledge of it. 'Discover' or 'learn' or a word or phrase of similar import refers to knowledge rather than to reason to know. The time and circumstances under which a notice or notification may cease to be effective are not

determined by this code.”

In the case at hand, Chris Hitt did not know, or have reason to know, that the tractor had been previously conveyed to the Gandys. George E. Ford had possession of the tractor. George E. Ford sold the tractor to Chris Hitt. Also, it is clear Chris Hitt gave valuable consideration for the tractor by financing it with First Federal Bank. Lastly, there is no evidence indicating Chris Hitt acted in bad faith. Therefore, Chris Hitt is a bona fide purchaser as defined by law.

CONCLUSION

The Chancellor was correct in his Judgement setting aside the sale of the tractor and his decision is supported by the law and evidence in this case and must be affirmed with all costs being assessed to Appellants.

—